## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-1-2013

## Duhon v. Olbricht Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40572

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter was tried before the court on November 1, 2011, for the division of assets and entry of the divorce. The court rendered its decision in writing on November 29, 2011, which also included the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The decree in this matter was entered on December 12, 2011.

Defendant moved for reconsideration on December 19, 2011. The hearing on that motion was held on February 6, 2012. The order denying the motion for reconsideration was entered on February 8, 2012.

The Defendant/Appellant herein timely filed his notice of appeal on March 5, 2012.

The District Court entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order on Appeal on October 17, 2012. The District Court upheld the Magistrate's ruling.

The Appellant filed this appeal on November 26, 2012.

#### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this matter are generally stipulated by the parties. There is very little disagreement as to substantive factual issues.

The parties began living together in 2001.

The parties bought a house together in 2005. The parties stipulated that the house is community property. Tr. p. 5, II. 8-9. In fact, the parties were not married until 2007, so the house could not be characterized as community property, but the parties acknowledged the house was in both names, they considered it a joint asset and stipulated that it was subject to the jurisdiction of the court in the divorce.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF, Page 1

The parties married on September 2, 2007.

Jared (Appellant) suffered an ankle injury on December 16, 2007, while skiing. The injury occurred after the marriage of the parties. The court found that Jared suffered an injury to his ankle and that his surgery for that injury was unsuccessful, causing him a severe disability. Jared, separately and not joined by Michelle, instituted a claim against the physician. The claim was subsequently mediated. Both parties were required to sign the mediated settlement agreement. In his testimony, Jared stated that it was essentially his understanding that his wife was present to supplement any information about the accident as part of the mediation, and that she needed to sign the agreement to waive any claims she might have against the doctor. Tr. p. 231, II. 5-12.

The final check, however, was made payable to Jared only for \$217,135.13.

Decision, November 29, 2010, pages 2 & 3. See Exhibit 10.

Jared deposited the \$217,135.13 check into the joint checking account of the parties on December 18, 2010. Both parties testified that the parties did not have any other open checking accounts with the exception of the account for the Blind Guy, a jointly owned business. Tr. p. 193, II. 17-23, Tr. p. 223, II. 6-10.

After deposit, the money is clearly traceable. Jared, in an effort to reduce the mortgage payment of the parties, paid down a line-of-credit mortgage with his separate personal injury funds. The parties testified that their mortgage was a line-of-credit that was "interest only" and the payment varied depending on the balance due on the loan. There is no indication that Jared's intent was to do anything other than benefit the parties regarding their monthly obligations. In his testimony, Jared

clearly believed that he had sole decision making and the control of that money. In his testimony, he always refers to himself in first person regarding ownership and use of that money. Tr. p. 223, II. 15-25. Essentially, Jared held a separate lien against the home by virtue of using his separate funds to reduce community debt.

On May 10, 2011, \$60,000 of these funds were transferred to Doc's Pharmacy. The parties do not disagree with this factual statement. The \$60,000 was transferred for starting the new pharmacy and it is clear that the proceeds used to start the pharmacy were "from the ankle injury," as stated in direct examination and answer by Michelle (Respondent). Tr. p. 86, II. 6-8, p. 87, II. 6-10.

There is currently a loan payable to the shareholders from the community corporation, Doc's Pharmacy, Inc., in the amount of \$62,753.00. Tr. p. 87, II. 20-25, p. 88, II. 1-6.

In the decision by the trial court, the court characterized the \$217,135.13 as community property. The court did not specifically address or make a ruling on the \$62,753.00 loan to shareholders that was an asset of this marriage.

Ш

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- A. Did the Magistrate err in his characterization of the proceeds of the Defendant's personal injury settlement as community property?
- B. Did the Magistrate err in failing to award the community the shareholder loan made by the community to Plaintiff's business, thus entitling Defendant to one-half of the shareholder loan showing on the books of the company.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Did the Magistrate err in his characterization of the proceeds of the
 Defendant's personal injury settlement as community property?

As stated above, there is no factual dispute that Jared received \$217,135.13 as a result of a personal injury he sustained in a skiing accident. Michelle does not state the reasons why she was present in the mediation agreement and she does not rebut Jared's assessment that she was there as support and to answer any questions which may arise. There was no testimony or evidence by any of the parties as to why Michelle signed or was required to sign the mediated settlement agreement. There was no allegation by Michelle that any of the settlement proceeds were for anything other than Jared's loss to his person, pain and suffering or general damages. She has made no claims for award of funds for community loss.

As cited by the court, the Idaho case which instructs the court is *Rogers v*. *Yellowstone Park Co.*, 97 Idaho 14 (Sup. Ct. 1975), which states that "damages for pain and suffering and emotional distress are the separate property of the spouse injured." The Supreme Court has also given us additional instruction in *Cook v*. *Cook*, 102 Idaho 651 (Sup. Ct. 1981). Where the right to receive property during the marriage arises as compensation for some right personal to one spouse alone, the property takes its character from the right violated.

It is the position of the Appellant that once it has been agreed that he received an injury and that he alone received a check payable to himself as a result of his claim, and further that he alone, signed the settlement agreement with the

attorneys, he has directly traced the proceeds of his personal injury to the receipt of \$217,135.13. The settlement agreement, **Exhibit 10**, further indicates repayment for all medical costs incurred which would have been community obligations. It would therefore follow, by logic, that any portion of the funds that were owed to the community were, in fact, repaid to the community, with the remaining balance payable to Jared Obricht as his sole and separate property.

The Appellant argues that he has shown, by prima facie evidence, that funds were paid to him. The court analyzed that there was no breakdown of what was community and what was separate, then defaults to the position that the whole settlement is community. Clearly that is not true. Certainly, some of that payment was for pain and suffering, and loss of the use of his person. There is no case law to support the court's conclusion that if there is no breakdown, we have to infer that all of the settlement was a community settlement. In fact, Appellant would argue just the opposite. After he has shown the payment solely to him of funds which were called "ankle money" by Plaintiff and her counsel throughout this case, it should be inferred, that in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the entire balance was payable to Jared as his sole and separate property. It was his ankle. The court did not find that the funds were commingled or were not traceable. The court simply made the initial characterization that the property was community based upon a presumption, which is not supported in case law or statute.

There was no argument that the settlement was gifted to the community nor was there any testimony to that effect. In fact, Michelle would have the burden to prove that the separate funds were gifted. *Ustick v. Ustick* 104 Idaho 215 (Ct. App.

1983). Therefore, in the absence of any evidence which would disrupt Appellant's clear evidence that he received a check as a result of his personal injury, the characterization of the property is not transmuted by gift. At no point did Michelle testify that she believed the proceeds to be community. There is a void of evidence at trial that Michelle, at any time, made a claim for lost wages to the community. The testimony solely surrounds the damage done by Dr. Greendyke to Jared.

Further, Jared clearly believed that he had sole decision making and the control of that money. In his testimony, he always refers to himself in first person regarding ownership and use of that money. Tr. p. 223, II. 15-25. This does not evidence any intent to gift.

In the Arizona case of *Jurek v. Jurek*, 124 Arizona 596, the court reversed its long standing rule that personal injury proceeds were community and, in fact, instructed the court to determine the amount of lost wages and medical expenses, and to then award the balance to the injured spouse as his sole and separate property. In this case, the medical expenses and costs have already been deducted. As stated above, there was no claim for lost wages. The remaining proceeds that were paid to Jared Olbricht should be deemed his sole and separate property and he should be reimbursed those sums from the community estate.

2. Did the Magistrate err in failing to award the community the shareholder loan made by the community to Respondent's business, thus entitling Appellant to one-half of the shareholder loan showing on the books of the company?

The Appellate court may approach this question several different ways. The trial court did not address it at all and, therefore, was in error.

A. Jared loaned \$60,000 of separate funds to start the community business, free of other debt. The debt owed to the community is a community asset. It is subject to division by the court.

The Court of Appeals, in *Jensen v. Jensen*, 124 Idaho 162 (Ct. App. 1993), included a discussion of fact which were very similar to the facts in this case. There had been loans from separate property to a community business and the Court of Appeals determined that the magistrate was in error in failing to make a finding on the disputed factual issue of the business loans. In *Jensen*, there was insufficient evidence regarding whether the contributions of capital were intended to be loans. This is not the case in the current matter since the funds are clearly identified by Michelle as shareholder loans. The point in *Jensen*, however, as it relates to the instant case, is the magistrate's failure to properly address and support his findings on this specific issue.

Michelle did not present any evidence of the value of her business. She did not have expert testimony indicating how much her business would be worth if it could continue to pay her wages in the amount of \$14,400 per month as she testified. Tr. p. 202, Il. 16-19, p. 187, I. 5.

Both parties testified regarding \$60,000 loaned to the community company from the personal injury proceeds. On direct exam, Michelle was asked if the parties had discussed using "proceeds from the ankle injury for the pharmacy purchase." She answered in the affirmative. Tr. p. 86, I. 6. Michelle continued in her direct

testimony regarding "the \$60,000." Tr. p. 87, I. 6. At no time was the \$60,000 characterized as anything other than the money from the ankle injury. Michelle acknowledges that \$60,000 still exists on the corporate books of Doc's Pharmacy, Inc., as a corporate loan to shareholders. The balance owing to the shareholders at this time is actually \$62,753.90. Tr. p. 87, I. 24, p. 88, I. 6.

There is a rebuttal presumption that all properties (and the character thereof) acquired during the marriage is community property. *Winn v. Winn*, 105 Idaho 811 (Sup. Ct. 1983). During the marriage Jared made a loan to the community of \$60,000 of his separate funds (the presumption that those funds were community having been rebutted). That debt is acknowledged on the federal tax return of the corporation which has been prepared at the behest of Michelle. She does not dispute that the community owes \$60,000 borrowed to finance the community business.

In Michelle's books, she began tracking, during the process of this divorce, what income she should actually be taking. This is based partly upon what she is paying a second pharmacist. When she tracked her actual projected income, her profits became negative. Michelle stated in response to a question as follows:

Question: "So when you were giving us figures about the retained

earnings that you have as being a large negative figure, does

that come from your P&L that you prepared?"

Response: "Um-hmm" Tr. p. 186, Il. 15-19.

Creating hypothetical figures, Michelle was able to create a loss, thus giving the appearance that her business had very little value. In fact, there was no valuation of the business.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF, Page 8

In fact, Michelle has drug inventory of \$42,000 which is paid for. Tr. p. 192, II. 10-11.

The \$62,753 shareholder loan is clearly a community asset, separate from the corporation. Michelle was awarded the business known as Doc's Pharmacy, Inc., along with its liabilities. She will presumably continue to operate that business and also continue to have sales which have been increasing. This debt will continue to be an obligation that she owes to Jared Olbricht and Michelle Duhon. The debt to her company was apparently generally calculated by the court in arriving at a \$-0-value for her business (although the court was not clear). If Michelle is credited for the debt, as an offset to value, then it is a valid debt that must be paid by the corporation. Michelle was not, nor should she be awarded that account as her own asset. To do so would unequally divide the assets by giving her a \$62,753 asset owed by a separate entity. The debt should be either divided between the parties, or reimbursed to Jared as his separate property as set forth above.

A review of the court's decision, at page 5 (referencing faxed numbers at the top of the page) shows error. The court assumed that Michelle was going to borrow \$136,800 per year to meet payroll. In fact, Michelle has been operating the business for two years without having to do so. She further testified she did not intend to pay herself the unpaid salary. Tr. p. 187, II. 23-25, p. 188, II. 1-4. The property lease was not valued. The inventory of the business, as stated, was \$42,000. The court stated "any value from the inventory is offset by the liabilities of pharmacy." This finding is not supported by the evidence. The court did not have sufficient evidence to value the business at a "net zero value." The only fixed liability of the corporation

is the liability to the shareholders, and Jared Olbricht was one of those shareholders at the time of trial of this matter. Jared Olbricht should be awarded a judgment for his share of that shareholder debt.

The appellate court in Simplot v. Simplot, 96 Idaho 239, 526 P.2d 844 (1974), found:

Debts which were not evidenced by written instrument but were accounts on the books of the corporation to which they were owed and which had no due dates or interest charge were properly classified as community property and assigned to respondent in the division of the property where it was shown that such debts would be satisfied without expense to the respondent and there was no evidence that such accounts were not debts.

#### B. There is another approach to this issue:

The Court could order reimbursement to Jared of his separate funds. In *Estate of Freeburn*, 97 Idaho 845 (Sup. Ct. 1976), the court found "where separate funds of one spouse are used to benefit the community, such as payment of a debt arising from acquisition of community property, the separate estate is entitled to reimbursement." In this case, Jared clearly invested \$60,000 of his separate funds directly into the pharmacy business to pay the debt for acquisition of inventory and equipment, thus benefitting the community, by creation of a business which is continuing to grow. The trial court should have found that the debt owed by Doc's Pharmacy, Inc. to its creditors (Jared and Michelle) is a liability, just as she owes her lease, and it is assumed that she will pay those liabilities. Jared should be reimbursed, at a minimum, \$60,000 from the business. Again, she received a credit for this debt against value of the corporation. The debt must be paid. If she is not obligated to pay the debt, Michelle received a \$62,753 windfall and an unequal

distribution. If Michelle does pay the debt to herself only, she also receives a windfall.

In its Decision, the trial court made no finding that there should be an unequal distribution of assets and debts. The court, on the contrary, found that the division of property made was a substantially equal division of property. It can be inferred, therefore, that the court intended to find that this case warranted a substantially equal division of property. Idaho law requires such a division. Idaho Code §32-712.

Whichever approach the district court finds appropriate, the trial court erred in not addressing the \$62,753 shareholder loan as a community asset. Clearly, it is Jared's position that the \$60,000 was loaned to the corporation from his sole and separate assets in order to benefit the corporation and such asset should be returned to him fully, under *Freeburn*, prior to awarding the community assets and debts.

IV.

#### CONCLUSION

The Trial Court in this matter exceeded its authority and the matter should be remanded to the Trial Court for further determination.

The court's decision that Jared's personal injury settlement was community was not supported by the law and the facts of the case. The findings should be reversed and the character of the proceeds of the personal injury settlement should be awarded to Jared as his sole and separate property, with the necessary recalculation of the distribution of assets and debts.

The court did not address the asset of the shareholder loan of the corporation which is owed to Jared Olbricht and Michelle Duhon. This matter should be remanded to the Magistrate to divide this asset which was omitted from the court's decision.

Appellant requests attorneys fees and costs incurred herein.