Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-26-2013

Duhon v. Olbricht Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40572

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	PROCEDURAL HISTORY	1	
	В.	STATEMENT OF FACTS	. 2	
II.	ISSUE	ES ON APPEAL	. 3	
III.	ARGUMENT:			
	NO PROOF SEPARATE PROPERTY			
	ALTERNATIVELY, TRACING			
	ALTERNATIVELY, GIFT 6			
	FACTS SURROUNDING THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE			
	SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL 8			
		FACTS	. 10	
IV.	ATTC	ORNEY'S FEES	.12	
	CONCLUSION			
	CERT	TIFICATE OF SERVICE	.15	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Barrett v. Barrett, 149 Idaho 21 (2010)
Blake v. Blake, 69 Idaho 214
<u>Campbell v. Campbell</u> , 120 Idaho 394 (C.A. 1991)
<u>Cook v. Cook</u> , 102 Idaho 651 (S.C. 1981)
Donndlinger v. Donndlinger, 107 Idaho 431 (C.A. 1984)
Evans v. Twin Falls County, 118 Idaho 210 (S.C. 1990)
<u>Gapsch v. Gapsch</u> , 76 Idaho 44 (S.C. 1954)
Guy v. Guy, 98 Idaho 205 (S.C. 1977) citations omitted
<u>Huerta v. Huerta</u> , 127 Idaho 77 (1995)
<u>Hunt v. Hunt</u> , 137 Idaho 18 (S.C. 2002)
<u>Krebs v. Krebs</u> , 114 Idaho 571 (C.A. 1988)
<u>McAfee v. McAfee</u> , 132 Idaho 281 (C.A. 1999)
<u>Nelson v. Nelson</u> , 144 Idaho 710 (2007)
Reed v. Reed, 137 Idaho 53 (2002)
Rogers v. Yellowstone Park Co., 97 Idaho 14 (S.C. 1975)
<u>Speer v. Quinlan</u> , 96 Idaho119 (1974)
<u>Vail v. Vail</u> , 117 Idaho 520 (C.A. 1990)
<u>Wilson v. Wilson</u> , 54 Idaho, 515
Worzala v. Worzala, 128 Idaho 408 (S.C. 1996)
Code Sections:
I.C. 12-121

COMES NOW, the Plaintiff/Respondent, MICHELLE DUHON, (hereinafter Respondent DUHON), by and through SUZANNA L. GRAHAM, her Attorney of Record, and hereby submits the following RESPONDENT'S REPLY TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF (Defendant/Appellant JARED OLBRICHT is hereinafter referred to as Appellant OLBRICHT):

I.

STATEMENT OF CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

The trial in this matter was held on November 1, 2011 related to the divorce and property distribution which were the only issues. The Trial Court rendered its written Decision on November 29, 2011 after the parties were allowed to submit their post-trial briefing. The Decree of Divorce in this matter was entered on December 12, 2011.

Appellant OLBRICHT moved the Trial Court to reconsider its Decision in a sparsely written Motion without grounds. On February 6, 2012 a hearing was held. The Court summarily DENIED the Reconsideration Motion, and an Order was entered on February 8, 2012.

Appellant OLBRICHT filed an Appeal on March 5, 2012 and later obtained the trial transcript, but he has failed to obtain the transcript from the Reconsideration Hearing held on February 6, 2012. The Magistrate Court ruled on Appellate Issue 2 at the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider for which this Appellate Court does not have the transcript.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

That the Parties jointly purchased a home in 2005, in joint name and joint deed.

TRIAL TRANSCRIPT, Page 26, Lines 7-12, hereinafter cited as TR p. 26, L 7-12.

That Respondent DUHON resided in said home while the divorce was pending. TR p. 27, L 1-12.

That the Court entered a Joint Preliminary Injunction at the time of the divorce filing. TR p. 27, L 13-15.

That the Community Debt on the Real Property located at 11168 North Patty Drive, Hayden, Idaho went from \$160,000 on the date of the divorce filing to \$360,000. TR p. 27, L 16-23.

The Real Property was secured by an accelerated Home Mortgage Loan. TR p. 28, L 3-7. When you put money on the house, it's like a line of credit and you can get the money back out of it. TR p. 28, L7-9.

When Appellant OLBRICHT discovered that the divorce was going to happen, he pulled all the money off (the Line of Credit). TR p. 28, L 9-11. Appellant OLBRICHT pulled \$100,000 on November 9, 2010 and \$25,000 on November 12, 2010. TR p. 29, L 15-16.

The Joint Preliminary Injunction in the above-captioned matter, which precluded both parties from "Transferring, encumbering, concealing, selling or otherwise disposing RESPONDENT'S REPLY TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF - Page 2

of the joint, common or community property" was issued on October14, 2010. TR p. 29-30, L 15-30; 1-19.

The removal of money was in violation of the Joint Preliminary Hearing entered herein.

The parties were married on September 2, 2007. TR p. 95. L18-20.

The Parties owned the Blind Guy and paid \$50,000 for said business. TR p. 45, L 1-7. The parties sold the Blind Guy back to the Corporation for \$110,000. TR p. 46, 15-17. The Appellant OLBRICHT retained the sales proceeds of approximately \$38,000. TR p. 47-48, L 12-25, 1-23.

Appellant OLBRICHT was hurt in a skiing accident at Schweitzer Mountain Resort on December 16, 2007. TR p 95, L13-25. The parties thereafter filed a Malpractice claim. The parties mediated a settlement of the malpractice claim. See Exhibit 9, TR p. 101-102, L 9-24, 1-11. Upon receipt of the settlement proceeds, Appellant OLBRICHT deposited the \$217,135.13 into the parties' joint account on December 18, 2010. TR p. 121, L 2-6. The parties put \$200,000 towards the debt owed against the house by agreement. TR p. 121-122, L 20-25, 1-25. Exhibit 4, page 7.

II.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did the Magistrate err in his characterization of the proceeds of the Defendant's personal injury settlement as community property?
- B. Did the Magistrate err in failing to award the community the shareholder loan made by the Community to Plaintiff's business, thus entitling Defendant to one-half of the shareholder loan showing on the books of the company?

III.

ARGUMENT

First Issue on Appeal - Did the Magistrate err in his characterization of the proceeds of the Defendant's personal injury settlement as community property?

Item 36: Appellant OLBRICHT'S Personal Injury Settlement: It is a basic concept of community property law that all property acquired during marriage is presumed to be community property. Guy v. Guy, 98 Idaho 205 (S.C. 1977). *Citations omitted*.

It is clear that the party asserting the separate character of comingled assets must prove that the property is separate "with reasonable certainty and particularity" Speer v. Quinlan, 96 Idaho 119 (1974). The party asserting that the property is separate bears the burden of proving to a reasonable certainty that property is separate. Worzala v. Worzala, 128 Idaho 408 (S.C. 1996).

The Personal Injury settlement necessarily includes five measures of damage: (1) Lost earnings (CP=Community Property), (2) pain and suffering (SP=Separate Property), (3) loss of enjoyment of life (CP=Community Property), (4) future medical (CP=Community Property), and (5) loss of consortium (SP=Separate Property). Appellant OLBRICHT had the burden of proving with certainty and particularity his separate property claim and if so, how much was separate. Appellant OLBRICHT failed to meet his burden of proving any separate property claim. Appellant OLBRICHT failed to provide any proof as to the separate property nature of the claim or the value thereof. The Magistrate Court had no facts from which to make a determination as to the separate character.

General damages for pain and suffering and emotional distress are the separate property of the injured spouse. Rogers v. Yellowstone Park Co., 97 Idaho 14 (S.C. 1975); Evans v. Twin Falls County, 118 Idaho 210 (S.C. 1990).

Where the right to receive property during marriage arises as compensation for some right personal to one spouse alone, the property takes its character from the right violated. <u>Cook v.</u> <u>Cook</u>, 102 Idaho 651 (S.C. 1981).

Damage to earning capacity is community property. <u>Cook v. Cook</u>, 102 Idaho 651 (S.C. 1981).

The Court is without the ability to determine what amount, if any, is subject to separate property interest, the Appellant OLBRICHT having brought no facts before the Trial Court herein relative to his separate property claim. In other words, Appellant OLBRICHT failed in his burden of establishing the separate nature of the settlement.

Appellant OLBRICHT provided no evidence to rebut the presumption that the Medical Malpractice settlement proceeds, having been acquired during the parties' marriage, was community property.

Alternatively, TRACING.

Appellant OLBRICHT'S reliance on tracing is flawed as it is first incumbent upon the Appellant OLBRICHT to prove that the asset was separate when placed into the parties' joint account, which he has failed to do. If Appellant OLBRICHT fails to prove the separate nature of the asset, then Tracing cannot be had, as there is nothing to be traced.

Appellant OLBRICHT, having failed in his burden to prove the separate nature of the Medical Malpractice settlement proceeds, then tracing is not necessary as the settlement shall be presumed community property. The Appellant OLBRICHT'S reliance on tracing is misplaced as

the Appellant OLBRICHT failed to meet his burden of proving any portion of the settlement was separate property.

With that argued, Appellant OLBRICHT put the proceeds of the Medical Malpractice settlement proceeds into the parties' joint bank account, which cannot be considered comingled as the presumption is that the proceeds were community. The parties paid off their joint Mortgage Line of Credit and left the remainder of the settlement proceeds on said account for eleven (11) months.

Where parties comingle, blend and confuse separate funds with community property, and treat and handle their separate and community funds in one bank account as one fund, all such funds become community property. Gapsch v. Gapsch, 76 Idaho 44 (S.C. 1954).

Alternatively, GIFT:

The essential elements of a gift inter vivos are: (1) A donor competent to contract; (2) freedom of will of donor (3) the gift must be complete and nothing left undone; (4) the property must be delivered by the donor and accepted by the donor; (5) the gift must go into immediate and absolute effect. Wilson v. Fackrell, 54 Idaho 515; Blake v. Blake, 69 Idaho 214.

Respondent DUHON asserts that Appellant OLBRICHT failed to meet his burden of proving the separate nature of the Medical Malpractice settlement; alternatively, Appellant OLBRICHT effectuated a gift to the community. Appellant OLBRICHT transferred the settlement proceeds/money into a joint account, Appellant OLBRICHT and/or Respondent DUHON transferred a portion of those monies over to pay a community debt, i.e., the Home Loan. The remainder of the settlement proceeds remained in said joint account for in excess of ten (10) months until the altercation occurred and divorce was sought. All elements of a gift were proven by the parties' conduct and actions herein.

The manner and method of acquisition of property, as well as the parties' treatment of that property, are questions of fact. We defer to the Magistrate's findings on these issues when supported by substantial evidence. <u>Krebs v. Krebs</u>, 114 Idaho 571 (C.A. 1988).

The parties treated the property as community placing the same into joint account, and paying a Mortgage Debt of a jointly owned home.

FACTS SURROUNDING THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM:

Respondent DUHON and Appellant OLBRICHT paid substantial medical bills from the community funds on behalf of the Appellant OLBRICHT and his ankle injury. TR p. 80, 13-18. In 2008 - \$15,761 and in 2009 - \$2,157. TR p. 80-81, L 12-25; L 1-9, Trial Exhibit 7

The parties jointly agreed to the medical treatment and Operation/Surgery. TR p. 96-97, L 11-25, 1-12. Respondent DUHON was Appellant OLBRICHT'S caregiver when he was laid up and convalescing from the accident. TR p. 97, L 13-21; TR p. 105, L 6-10. The community had to hire a helper at the BLIND GUY as Appellant OLBRICHT was not able to work as he had been prior to the accident. TR p. 98, L 1-17. Respondent DUHON went to Medical Appointments with Appellant OLBRICHT and encouraged him to return to his Physician, when his pain was too great. TR p. 99, L 1-19. The parties discovered that the ankle was displaced or did not heal properly, the Doctor having not let the ankle heal long enough. TR p. 99-100, L 1-20-22, 1-1-4. Both parties went to the Medical Malpractice Claim Attorney's appointments. TR p. 100, L 1-9-18.

The parties also went to mediation together and both signed the mediated agreement, agreeing to the \$217,000 settlement. TR p. 101-102, L 9-25, L 1-, Trial Exhibit 9, Trial Exhibit 10. Appellant OLBRICHT obtained the check for \$217,000 and put it into the joint bank account. TR p. 102, L 9-18. The parties discussed and agreed that they would put the money towards the Home Mortgage Loan. TR p. 102-103, L 19-25, L 1-22.

Respondent DUHON worked from the time Appellant OLBRICHT sustained the injury until the settlement was received. TR p. 104, L 9-14. Respondent DUHON paid all the community bills and worked six (6) days per week to pay the community debts. TR p. 104-105, L 12-25, 1-5.

The characterization of property is within the discretion of the court and will not be disturbed unless the record demonstrates an abuse of discretion. Hunt v. Hunt, 137 Idaho 18 (S.C. 2002). Appellant OLBRICHT failed to provide any substantially competent evidence that the personal injury monies were separate property. Further, the parties' conduct and actions prove that the monies were community property.

Second issue on appeal - Did the Magistrate err in failing to award the shareholder loan made by the Community to Plaintiff's business, thus entitling Defendant to one-half of the shareholder loan showing on the books of the company?

Unless shown to the contrary, expenditures made and indebtedness incurred during the marriage is presumed to be for the benefit of the community. <u>Campbell v. Campbell</u>, 120 Idaho 394 (C.A. 1991). There is a rebuttable presumption that a debt incurred during marriage is a community debt. <u>McAfee v. McAfee</u>, 132 Idaho 281 (C.A. 1999).

Community debts generally are to be paid by community property. <u>Vail v. Vail</u>, 117 Idaho 520 (C.A.1990); Donndlinger v. Donndlinger, 107 Idaho 431 (C.A. 1984).

The Magistrate Court in its written Decision, recognized the community shareholder's loan and awarded the same unto the Plaintiff with the Business and the debt owing thereupon. "The parties acquired a business in June, 2010 known as 'Doc's Pharmacy". The community invested \$60,000.00 into the new business as working capital. The business corporation was originally owned by the parties, each as shareholders. During the divorce, Respondent DUHON transferred the corporation share to herself divesting the Appellant OLBRICHT of his shares. The \$60,000.00 originally invested into the company is booked as a debt owing to the shareholders. The evidence adduced at trial indicates clearly that the pharmacy is not making money. Respondent DUHON, a licensed pharmacist, has been working for free. The records demonstrate that she has foregone approximately \$267,000.00 of salary in an effort to allow the pharmacy to continue to operate. The records demonstrate that if she drew a salary or if the business paid a pharmacist to work, then the business would have a negative value. Respondent DUHON historically earned approximately \$48.00 per hour. Respondent DUHON works as much as 50 hours a week. In order to the business to operate and pay a pharmacist, the company would have to borrow as much as \$136,800.00 per year to meet payroll. The business has one significant obligation which is a real property lease agreement ten (10) years in length. The inventory of the business is worth \$42,000. Any value from the inventory is offset by the liabilities of the pharmacy. Respondent DUHON should be awarded the business together with its encumbrances/liabilities which the Court finds to be a "net zero value" award to the Plaintiff.

The division of property is a factual question left to the sound discretion of the trial court.

Barrett v. Barrett, 149 Idaho 21 (2010).

FACTS:

The parties purchased Doc's Pharmacy in June, 2010. TR p. 81-82, L 24-25, L 1. The parties invested \$62,753.90 of community capital. TR p. 87, L 23-24. The initial investment was for the startup costs and operating capital, computers, and monthly bills. TR p. 87, L 6-7. The investment capital has been consumed. The Loan is carried on the Books as payable to Shareholder, the Respondent DUHON. Respondent DUHON has utilized the \$100,000 removed from the community residence to sustain the business, having a balance remaining of \$35,000.

The Pharmacy has a Lease Agreement which is for ten (10) years at the rate of \$1,100 per month. TR p. 92, L 21-24. The Pharmacy has monthly fixed bills of \$6,533.11. TR p. 89, L 5-7.

If the community had to pay a pharmacist plus all the bills, it would take \$20,900 per month to operate the pharmacy. TR p. 89, L 13-18. The Pharmacy is in the red if the community had to pay a pharmacist \$11,400 every month. TR p. 89, L 18-19. If Respondent DUHON had to pay herself a salary she would need a loan of \$136,800 just to make the payroll for one year. TR p. 90, L 1-4. The Pharmacy is not marketable and Respondent DUHON would not be able to sell the Pharmacy. TR p. 92, L 15-17.

A Pharmacist for the extra 40 hours per month of regular time (not overtime so a second Pharmacist) would cost \$2,400 per month.

The Pharmacy hours are Monday through Friday 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. and Saturday 10 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. The Pharmacy is operated by the Respondent DUHON in excess of fifty (50)

hours per week. TR p. 95, L 10-17. It would cost \$20,900 per month to pay a Pharmacist (operating costs) in lieu of the Respondent DUHON. TR p. 95, L 7-9. Respondent DUHON has not taken a paycheck since June, 2010 as there has been no earnings from which to pay her a salary. TR p. 95, L 10-16.

A Pharmacy Technician at 80 hours per month would cost \$1,200.

The total operating cost for the Pharmacy is \$20,900 per month to have someone else run the Pharmacy. TR p. 95, L 7-9. The Pharmacy had its best month in October, 2011 earning \$9,500.00 which resulted in an \$11,400.00 deficit each month. The Pharmacy would need a loan of \$136,800.00 to meet the payroll obligation for one (1) year. TR p. 90, L 1-4..

Respondent DUHON has worked at the Pharmacy fifty (50) hours per week for the past one (1) year without payment of a salary, attempting to build a clientele and improve her prescription base.

The Pharmacy is not marketable at present due to the outstanding Ten Year Lease (\$2,000 per month) and contract due and payable to Medicine Man Pharmacy (either 1% of the sales OR \$1,100 whichever is greater).

The current Inventory of Medication is \$42,000. There is no market wherein said drugs could be sold to another Pharmacy.

The Profit and Loss statement for 2010 showed negative earnings of \$24,796,04. TR p. 184, L 1-2.

The record clearly shows substantial and competent evidence that the current value of the Pharmacy is nothing.

The Magistrate Court clearly relied on competent and substantial evidence in finding the value of the Pharmacy to have a net zero value as announced in Judge Caldwell's written

opinion. The claim of entitlement to the Shareholder Loan and Appellant OLBRICHT'S failure to argue this issue on Appeal proves the frivolous and unreasonable nature of this issue on Appeal.

The Magistrate Court very specifically identified a debt owing to the shareholders and then awarded the same unto the Respondent DUHON. The Magistrate Court awarded the business together with its encumbrances/liabilities which the Court found to be a "net zero value". The shareholder loan was necessarily included in the debt and value.

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